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Whilst we have researched and discovered a considerable amount of historical 

information on the Prince of Wales public house (See SHS Listing No N 261), information on 

the buildings next door had remained elusive. At the opposite end of the block (No 22) 

we have discovered a respectable amount mainly brought about by documents that 

enabled us to pinpoint the location of the King’s Arms public house. It was common 

historical knowledge that there was a pub of that name in the village, but its exact 

location was unknown (SHS Listing No N1025). Living memory is useful, and memories 

extracted from grandparents a bonus, but beyond that it’s documentation to which we 

turn for facts. We are grateful to Chris Openshaw for allowing us to scan and study 

the documentation in his possession for No 18. (We will prefix references to his documents as C.O.) 

As well as providing the details of a century of ownership, references made to earlier 

indentures gave vital clues to earlier history.  

 

It may be prudent to start this history at circa 1906, work back in time and return to 

this spot later. C.O. Doc 2 dated June 1906, refers to an indenture dated 24th June 1878, 



whereby Thomas Lee borrowed £400 to purchase, ‘All that freehold messuage, tenement 

and shop situate in the high street.’ It also included a ‘freehold dwelling house or cottage in 

the high street.’ The document was brought about by the death of Thomas Lee in 

December 1898 and his widow Martha eventually selling the property to pay off the 

mortgage. The purchaser was John Pocock from Watchfield and upon his death in July 

1908 it was put up for sale by public auction a year later. (See below Faringdon Adver 21st 

August 1909).  
 

 
 

From the description of the property, we learn that there is a ‘Smith’s Shop’ to the rear. 

In 1841 Thomas Lee (senior) operated a Blacksmith Shop in the building that today is 

an Indian restaurant, opposite the Co-op store in the high street. This was confirmed 

by the Tithe Map of 1844 (See SHS Listing N 239). Thomas had two sons who were both 

Blacksmiths, John and Thomas. (See below) 

 

 

 



 
 

But it was Thomas who stayed in Shrivenham, and whilst his father remained in the 

Smithy at the west end of the high street, Thomas junior moved to the east end and 

the shop next to the Prince of Wales public house to run his Ironmongers Shop. (See 

below).  

 

 
 

The Beckett Estate Map of 1866 confirmed the information by listing that Thomas Lee 

was indeed the occupier. The owner is listed as Daniel Day who also owned the 

property next door (today No 22 – on map No 43), but we know from C.O. Doc 2 that Thomas 

Lee purchased it later in 1878. The map extract below clearly defined the property as 

No 42 and also showed the dark coloured building to the rear that was Thomas Lee’s 

Smithy. 

 

 



 
  

 

To take the history of these properties back further we looked at the census of 1841. 

Identifying the location of where a person lived can be difficult to establish. The 

commissioner’s walk-order could often appear to be erratic. By establishing known 

facts and transferring them onto the census can usually make more sense of it. For 

instance, we know that in 1849 Daniel Day purchased the property that today is No 

22 High St (43 on the Estate Map above). It’s probable but not yet proven that Daniel had 

operated the bakery and shop before buying it, as he is listed on the 1841 census as a 

Grocer. But listed almost next door is a Blacksmith and his family known as William 

Horn. 

 

Readers of Shrivenham history will know that the sharp bend at the east end of the 

village where the Longcott road joins the high street, was known as ‘Horns Corner.’ 

There is a traditional story that Horn the Blacksmith at some time had incurred the 

wrath of Lord Barrington who effectively dried up his work and drove him out of 

business. No local historian has produced any evidence to substantiate this legend, 

but before we look at it in more detail, an auction that took place in 1825 requires close 

attention. (See below). 

 



 
 

The above advert that appeared in the Oxford Journal on Saturday 2nd April 1825, 

revealed some interesting information. It’s rare that we get to know exactly when a 

property was built but here, we have it – ‘three newly erected dwelling houses.’ The 

tenants listed above match well with what we know from the census of 1841. Families 

Saunders and Hughes were still there and a Betty Butler is mentioned in C.O. Doc 2, 

who was John Butler’s daughter. It is also highly likely that the new properties were 

built by local builder John Streat (See below) whose family owned the land, and the 

Prince of Wales pub next door was owned by Henry Streat. (Advert - Devizes & Wilts Gazette 

26th Oct 1843). 
 

 
 



 

The census of 1841 showed that William Horn was operating as a Blacksmith and we 

know now that he was located by the Prince of Wales pub. We have no definitive 

beginning for the Prince of Wales. Research already carried out on the property 

suggest that it was initially a basic beer house, just a room set aside for people to buy 

beer to take away or drink in, circa 1815. To turn it into a ‘Public House,’ it was 

renovated and named after Albert Edward the eldest son of Queen Victoria who was 

born in 1841 and titled the Prince of Wales until he succeeded his mother in 1901. (See 

SHS No N261). Even though Horn’s Smithy was likely to have been a stopping point for 

horses to be shod, we can only speculate as to why his name would be associated with 

the bend about 200 yards away. Perhaps it was used as a navigational aid being either 

just before or directly after the sharp corner. The other part of the legend has some 

degree of truth. At an inquest held in Shrivenham on the 19th May 1851, it was stated 

that for many years William Horn had been a Blacksmith, ‘but in consequence of his 

intemperate habits had lost all his business.’ There is no reference to upsetting Lord 

Barrington in any way, and it can only be assumed that the suggestion was just local 

gossip. But he met a tragic end as the newspaper article reported that ‘he was found by 

his lodger suspended from a beam in his bedroom, life having been extinct some hours.’ (Below 

- Reading Mercury Sat 24th May 1851). 

 

 
 



Sometime between 1825 and the 1860s, alterations were made that would enable an 

Ironmongers shop in the middle of the three houses as confirmed by the 1861 census. 

It’s not known if the shop window at the cross trees end was in place by then. The 

photo below is dated just before the year 1900 and it clearly shows the two shop 

windows. (Photo from the SHS Collection). 

 

 
 

The census of 1871 showed that Thomas junior was still running his Ironmongers shop 

and Smithy. With him was his wife Martha and also his parents Thomas and Mary. 

The next census of 1881 showed Thomas and Martha still at the shop but Thomas 

senior and Mary had moved to Stanford in the Vale, presumably to continue their 

retirement. In 1891 it was recorded as the same but with Thomas and Martha was a 

14-year-old lad called Hugh who was a nephew. Thomas never made the 1901 census 

having died in 1898. Martha seems to have continued to run the business but is likely 

to have employed someone to operate the Smithy. In the document C.O.1 of 1906, the 

name William Albert Chandler is mentioned as the occupier of the shop and smithy, 

and the cottage attached by Clarence Tovey. 

 

The whole property was purchased by John Pocock of Watchfield in June 1906. He 

borrowed £450 from Edward Crowdy of Faringdon which was secured against the 

property. It’s not known if John Pocock had any input with the business or if he 

resided there, but his ownership was short caused by his death in July 1908. As a result 



of the ensuing probate the premises was put up for public auction on 27th August 1909. 

(Below – Faringdon Adver 21st Aug 1909).  

 

 

 
 

 

Document C.O. 3, an indenture dated 29th Sept 1909, showed that the property was 

purchased by Frederick Tucker of Shrivenham, Blacksmith. He bid £350 at the auction 

which is £100 less than was owed to Edward Crowdy who released it from 

incumbrances in full. But written on the title page of this Indenture was details of a 

Indenture of Conveyance dated 11th February 1926, whereby Fred Tucker sold a 

Dwellinghouse and Shop to Charles Waring. So this is where the property was split 

up. 

 

A newspaper article of 1932 provided more information regarding Frederick Tucker. 

(North Wilts Herald 4th Nov 1932). In an interview with a reporter, he claimed that he had 

worked at the Smithy from when he was a young lad and that he assisted his uncle 

Thomas Taylor. He stated that Thomas had been working at Shrivenham as a Smith 

for 50 years and before that his father John Taylor had managed the business. But it 

was Fred Tucker who purchased the Smithy and associated premises when it came up 

for auction in 1909. In the article mentioned above it was stated that the Smithy 



building was very old in appearance and was thatched. Fred Tucker related that at 

one time, three men were employed there and three forges were kept going. He 

lamented that there was not the amount of business available as in former years and 

today only one forge was working. He added that he knew of at least four smiths of 

this neighbourhood who have had to give up their work within the last year, and that 

he was the only man still doing it. The work that kept him going was from gentlemen 

patrons and huntsmen. (Below. Photo from 1935 courtesy of Paul Williams). 

 

 
 

By 1959 Fred Tucker had retired and C.O. Doc 6 is a conveyance that sold the property 

to Roy Gage, with the description of ‘All those two cottages situate in the High Street, 

Shrivenham, occupied by Miss Foster and Frederick Tucker together with two shops adjoining 

occupied by Fred Tucker and Roy Gage.’ This is puzzling in the light of the conveyance 

mentioned above where Fred Tucker sold a dwelling and shop to Charles Waring. 

Perhaps that sale was never completed. 

 

Roy Gage was described on the conveyance as a ‘Fish Fryer’ but we don’t have the 

information if he used the shop as a fish and chip shop. The numbers of the high street 

were different then and Roy and Edna Gage were listed as living further up the high 

street, but not in the premises they would buy over the road at No 47 and operate as 

a fish and chip shop for over 20 years. (The same property referred to earlier that was a Blacksmith 

Shop opposite the Co-op, occupied by Thomas Lea). But whether the shop at No 20 was used for 

the same, by 1965 it was a butcher’s shop operated by Brian Milton.  

 



C.O. Doc 7 is a conveyance dated 21st June 1963, between Roy Gage, Lloyds Bank and 

Edward Taylor Wray. And in this it can be seen that the shop is then separate as it 

described, ‘All that dwellinghouse or cottage situate and adjoining a Butcher’s shop in the 

High St, Shrivenham, which was in the occupation of Clarence Tovey and then Mrs Day.’  

 

Peter Day visited the Shrivenham Heritage Centre in August 2023 and remembers the 

time that he lived at the premises named above and what is now No 18 High Street. 

He was a keen photographer and kindly allowed us to copy photos that he had taken 

but also developed himself. The photos below are from the 1960s, courtesy of Peter 

Day. The man outside the Butcher’s shop is Charlie Gerring and the other photo shows 

the front of No 18, part of the signboard for Brian Milton’s shop and in between the 

shop window and the door of No 18, a metal post that displayed the points of the 

compass mentioned in the newspaper article from 1932. (See below). 

 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 

 

 



 
 

 


